IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 23 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

LEVIN, MIDDLEBROOKS, MABIE, THOMAS, MAYES & MITCHELL, P.A., ETAL.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,649

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Appellee.

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES R. GREEN of
Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie,
Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell
226 South Palafox Place
Post Office Box 12308
Pensacola, Florida 32581
(904) 435-7167
(Fla. Bar Number 242942)
Attorney for Plaintiffs/Appellants

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to herein as they stand before this Court. Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes, & Mitchell, P.A., etal., (the Levin Firm) were the plaintiffs in the trial court and are the Appellant in this appeal; the United States Fire Insurance Company (U.S. Fire) was the defendant in the trial court and is the appellee in this appeal.

References to the transcript of the record on appeal will be designated " $(R_{\underline{\hspace{1cm}}})$ " followed by the appropriate page number.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Levin Firm accepts the statement of the case as set forth by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in its introduction to the Certified Question.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Levin Firms accepts the statement of the facts as set forth by the United States Court of the Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in its Certification to the Florida Supreme Court with the exception that on page 2 it is stated that Mabie and the Levin firm represented MAC in the underlying case. That is incorrect. Mabie and the Levin firm represented the plaintiff in the original action and Morrison Assurance Company was the excess carrier for the defendant. U.S. Fire was the primary carrier for the defendant. It is the excess carrier, Morrison Assurance Company that later retained Mabie and the Levin firm to pursue its bad faith case action against U.S. Fire.

In addition, the Levin Firm would point out that this case was decided on a motion to dismiss.(R1-15) The complaint alleged that at the time U.S. Fire certified to Judge Geeker that they were going to call Mabie as a witness, they knew they would not call him at trial and that the misrepresentation was made for the improper purpose of disqualifying Mabie as an attorney because they knew he was experienced in handling "bad faith" cases and thought it would be to its advantage if Morrison Assurance Company was forced to employ other counsel.(R1-3-Exb.B)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

U.S. Fire did not contest the sufficiency of the Complaint for interference. The Judgment was entered based on an Order granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss on the sole grounds of privilege. Therefore, the claims in the Plaintiff's Complaint properly alleging tortious interference with business relations for the improper purpose of gaining an advantage in the litigation are deemed admitted.

Florida does not recognize a "litigation privilege" which would protect parties from intentional misrepresentations to the court in an attempt to gain an advantage in litigation. Florida does recognize a privilege for statements made in judicial proceedings for defamation. However, the privilege is only applied when statements are relevant to the litigation.

Florida has always recognized claims for abuse of process, malicious prosecution, fraud and misrepresentation arising out of actions that occur in litigation and has provided remedies for independent actions to set aside prior judgments as well as providing a procedure under the Florida Rules for setting aside judgments within one year that were obtained by fraud or misrepresentation in Rule 1.540, Fla.R.Civ.P. A party that makes an intentional misrepresentation to the court is abusing the power of the court and should not be immune from civil liability

The trial court erred in granting the motion to dismiss and recognizing a privilege where none exists under Florida Law.

#### ARGUMENT ON ISSUE I

CERTIFIED QUESTION: WHETHER CERTIFYING TO A TRIAL COURT AN INTENT TO CALL OPPOSING COUNSEL AS A WITNESS AT TRIAL IN ORDER TO OBTAIN COUNSEL'S DISQUALIFICATION, AND LATER FAILING TO SUBPOENA AND CALL COUNSEL AS A WITNESS AT TRIAL, IS AN ACTION THAT IS ABSOLUTELY IMMUNE FROM A CLAIM OF TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP BY VIRTUE OF FLORIDA'S LITIGATION PRIVILEGE

Plaintiffs/appellants would expand the certified question by adding that the certifying party never had any intent to call opposing counsel as a witness at trial but made a false certification for the sole purpose of trying to gain an advantage in the litigation. It also should be pointed out that U.S. Fire attorneys were not sued in this case. It is not the conduct of the attorneys that is at issue.

This case was before the trial court on a motion to dismiss the complaint. The trial court ruled as a matter of law that the affirmative defense of privilege was apparent on the face of the complaint and that the complaint therefore failed to state a cause of action.

The defendant in this case seeks to create a new term of art in Florida's Jurisprudence. That is, they seek to create a "litigation privilege" in the state of Florida. This Court would make a serious mistake if it were persuaded to coin a phrase and create a legal concept known as "litigation privilege" which would immunize participants in legal actions including parties, their attorneys, witnesses, and court personnel from responsibility for all kinds of illegal and unethical conduct.

The historic application of privilege in litigation has been

in causes of action for defamation. There is no privilege to commit a fraud on the court or to make misrepresentations to the court in order to gain an advantage in litigation. There is no "litigation privilege" that protects parties from their bad faith conduct in the procedural or evidentiary aspects of a trial. The only privilege for conduct arising out of litigation is for defamation, and the defamatory conduct must be pertinent to the subject of inquiry. This Court has been reluctant to grant or expand privilege to litigants.

In 1907, Florida in <u>Myers v. Hodges</u>, 44 So. 357 (Fla. 1907), adopted the majority view in the United States that:

. . . in order that defamatory words, published by parties, counsel or witnesses in the due course of judicial procedure, may be absolutely privileged, they must be connected with, or relevant or material to, the cause in hand or subject of inquiry. (Pg. 361)

Florida declined to adopt the English Doctrine of absolute privilege for defamatory words published in the course of judicial proceedings instead saying:

We think the ends of justice will be effectually accomplished by not extending the privilege so far as to make it an absolute exemption from liability for defamatory words wholly and entirely outside of, and having no connection with, the matter of inquiry. For why should a person be absolutely privileged to defame another in the course of a judicial proceeding by making slanderous statements wholly outside of the inquiry before the court? We think it unnecessary to carry the doctrine so far. The ends of justice can be effectually accomplished by placing a limit upon the party or counsel who avails himself of his situation to gratify private malice by uttering slanderous expressions and making libelous statements, which have no relation to, or connection with, the cause in hand or the subject matter of inquiry. (Pg. 361,362)

The root of the privilege lies in defamatory statements, not fraudulent misrepresentations to eliminate expert opposing counsel. U.S. Fire did not make any defamatory statements about the Levin Firm or Mabie, but rather, it willfully and fraudulently certified to the court that Mabie would be called as their witness in the trial. At the time it made the certification U.S. Fire knew that it would not call Mabie as a witness.

The trial court in the case sub judice, relied on Wright v. Yurko, 446 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), for the statement:

Florida courts have long recognized that '[p]arties, witnesses and counsel are accorded absolute immunity as to civil liability with regard to what is said or written in the course of a lawsuit, providing that the statements are relevant to the litigation.' (Pg. 5 of the Order)

Taken out of context, this seems to support a broad "litigation privilege." However, <u>Wright</u>, <u>supra</u>, involved a two count complaint. The first count alleged a cause of action for defamation, and the court held that privilege was a defense to the defamation claim.

Count two of <u>Wright</u>, <u>supra</u>, involved a complaint against the plaintiffs and their expert witnesses for malicious prosecution. The court held that the plaintiff alleged the malpractice suit was filed without probable cause and with malice and intent to injure him; it concluded in his favor; and it resulted in special and general damages to him. As to the malicious prosecution count, the court held that the complaint was improperly dismissed and should have been allowed to proceed. The proof in the malicious prosecution case would necessarily include the same statements that

were not actionable under a defamation theory. Nevertheless, the parties committing the defamatory acts could be liable under the alternative theory of malicious prosecution. Rather than creating a broad litigation privilege, the case restricts the privilege to actions for defamation and recognizes civil liability for improper conduct by parties to judicial proceedings.

See also, Ange v. State, 123 So. 916 (Fla. 1929), where the court stated:

While a party may not be prosecuted for liable or defamation on account of relevant statements made in the course of judicial proceedings, even though false and malicious, this does not mean that a person unjustifiably prosecuted is without other means of redress, such for instance as an action for malicious prosecution. (Emphasis added.) (Pg. 917,918)

Further evidence of court's distaste for the misrepresentation and fraud to gain an advantage in litigation is shown by the line of cases that interpret Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540. Relief from a judgment for fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party is specifically authorized. The last sentence of the Rule states:

This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, decree, order or proceeding to set aside a judgment or decree for fraud upon the court.

The last paragraph of the rule abolishes some common law writs and states:

. . . procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment or decree shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or <u>by an independent action</u>. (Emphasis added.) F.R.Civ.P. Rule 1.540.

This rule contemplates independent actions to correct

mistakes or errors in judgments, decrees, or orders which are the result of fraud or misrepresentation on the court.

In <u>Brown v. Brown</u>, 432 So. 2d 704 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), Mr. Brown sued his former wife to foreclose a mortgage given to her as part of a judicially approved property settlement. Mrs. Brown filed a counter-claim alleging that her ex-husband had fraudulently induced her to execute the property settlement agreement, which included the subject note and mortgage, by knowingly and intentionally overvaluing assets in exchange for which, in part, the note and mortgage were given. She had previously filed a motion for relief from judgment under Rule 1.540(b) which was denied for having been filed later than a year after the judgment was entered.

The former husband moved to dismiss with prejudice and on appeal that court discussed the effect of Rule 1.540(b) and the right to an independent action to set aside a judgment based on fraud. The court concluded that the rule preserved "two distinct and separate powers of a court over an independent action - the first being the power to entertain an independent action 'to relieve a party from a judgment, decree, order or proceeding,' and the second, the power to entertain an independent action 'to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court.'" (Pg. 710)

The court went on to cite Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) which also used the disjunctive under similar circumstances and would allow relief both by the rule and by independent action. (Pgs. 710,711)

In sum, the courts have never countenanced fraud and misrepresentation by parties or their attorneys regarding procedural matters or in the presentation of evidence. There has been a privilege protecting people from suits for defamation but there has never been a blanket privilege against being sued for fraud or misrepresentation in legal proceedings.

The issue of privilege was raised in <u>Robinson v.</u>

<u>Volkswagenwerk AG</u>, 940 F.2d 1369 (10th Cir. 1991). According to the complaint, Volkswagenwerk AG (VWAG) was sued along with their lawyers Herzfeld & Reubin (H & R) for fraudulently concealing the true relationship among VWAG and Audi NSU and Auto Union from the plaintiffs in a previous lawsuit, thereby precluding the plaintiffs from using critical liability evidence against VWAG and collecting damages.

In discussing the immunities defense raised by H & R the court said:

H & R claims that it is absolutely immune from civil liability for damages based upon its discovery and courtroom conduct in the previous trial. district court rejected this theory, stating 'any immunity that might attach to a private attorney's conduct is not attached to the conduct alleged in this case to be fraudulent.' V R. doc. 199 at 4. Our review of the district court's determination on absolute immunity is de novo. Snell, 920 F.2d at 694. Given the sparing recognition of absolute immunity by both the Supreme Court and this court, one claiming such immunity must demonstrate clear entitlement .... In this case, however, the absolute immunity precedent indicates that H & R's claim of absolute immunity would not be recognized at common law; we need proceed no further. (Cites omitted) (Emphasis added.) (Pqs. 1370-1371)

The claim of absolute immunity from civil liability for

damages based on concealment of the true relationship of the defendants to the defendant's advantage was rejected just as this Court should reject U.S. Fire's claim of immunity for its misrepresentation to the court in an attempt to gain an advantage.

In this review of the federal approach to immunity the Court considered the history of immunity at common law just as the Florida Supreme Court did in the earlier discussed case of Myers v. Hodges, 44 So. 357 (Fla. 1907) and once again concluded the immunity was for liable and slander, not for fraud or misrepresentation.

The trial court in granting U.S. Fire's motion to dismiss based on an absolute privilege seemed to rely on <u>Procacci v. Zacco</u>, 402 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). The issue in that case was whether the filing of a notice of lis pendens pursuant to Section 48-23(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1975) could give rise to a suit for slander of title or tortious interference with a contractual relationship. The court held that a lis pendens was merely a statutorily authorized republication of pleadings in a judicial proceeding and was simply notice to any prospective purchasers that any interest acquired by them in the property in litigation was subject to the decree of the court.

The court struggled with an intentional interference claim as it reasoned:

Both torts share a common legal basis; both involve intentional interference with another's economic relations. Moreover, the case at bar illustrates an additional aspect of their commonality for, as alleged here, both torts are subject to the same defenses. It has long been recognized that the

privilege defenses available in an action for personal defamation are also available in an action for slander of title. (Cites omitted) Reasoning from this premise, we determine that tortious interference is also subject to the same privilege defenses due to the common root it shares with slander of title and the fact, in this case, both torts alleged arose from the single act of filing the notice of lis pendens. (Pgs. 426-427)

The Procacci court misapprehends the law and oversimplifies it when it states that both torts are subject to the same defense of privilege. While both torts do have privilege as a defense, the conduct that is privileged in one is not necessarily privileged in the other. Statements made in a judicial proceeding are privileged against suits for defamation if pertinent to the judicial inquiry, while these same statement made anywhere else are not privileged. For example, if a person called someone a thief and a cheat in a public place, he has no privilege against suit for slander. However, if the same words are testified to in a lawsuit for an accounting of a business transaction between the two, the words are privileged even if false.

Conduct that is privilege in a business interference complaint does not include slanderous remarks. Normally, privileged conduct has to do with conduct that protects one's own business interests or involves fair competition.

For example, if a person called a competitor a thief and a cheat and induced the competitor's customers to cease doing business with the competitor, the person would be sued for both slander and interference. On the other hand:

One is privileged purposely to cause another not to enter into or continue a business relationship with

a third person by asserting in good faith, or threatening to protect properly a legally protected interest of his own which he believes may otherwise be impaired or destroyed by the performance of the transaction. . (45 Am. Jur. 2d <u>Interferences</u>, § 23 at 299)

A person has the right to protect his own contract rights even if it has a harmful effect on some third person's rights. But U. S. Fire's misrepresentation to the court did not protect any of its contractual rights or its right to compete in the market place.

The conduct in <u>Procacci</u>, <u>supra</u>, of filing a lis pendens was privileged on the defamation claim because it was part of a court pleading and the property was pertinent to the subject of inquiry. It was also privileged under the interference with a contract claim because the person was seeking to establish legitimate rights to an easement that was in question. Coincidentally, both claims arose out of the one simple lawful act of filing a lis pendens. That court, as noted by the United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit limited its holding to the filing of a lis pendens.

The length that U.S. Fire was willing to go in order to disqualify the Levin Firm is demonstrated by the fact that it began trying to disqualify the Levin Firm immediately upon the filing of the lawsuit. At that time, the trial court refused to disqualify and U.S. Fire appealed the denial. The trial court was sustained on appeal following which U.S. Fire took some depositions and again moved to disqualify the Levin Firm. It was at that point that the court refused to disqualify the Levin Firm unless U.S. Fire certified that they were going to call Mr. Mabie as a witness. When U.S. Fire so certified, the court entered the order

disqualifying the Levin Firm.

This court's most recent decision regarding slander and privilege was <u>Fridovich v. Fridovich</u>, 598 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 1992). This court took the opportunity to restrict the privilege rather than expand the privilege. The court said:

In deciding this issue we recognize the need to balance two important and competing interests, described by one scholar 'the right of the individual, on one hand, to enjoy [a] reputation unimpaired by defamatory attacks, and, on the other hand, the necessity, in the public interest, of a free and full disclosure of facts and the conduct of the legislative, executive, and judicial departments of the government.' Van Vechten Veeder, Absolute Immunity in Defamation: Judicial Proceedings, 9 Colum. L. Re. 463, 464 (1909). (Pg. 68)

These competing interests do not apply in the case <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>. The misrepresentation that Mr. Mabie would be called as a witness and should therefore no longer represent his client, did not impugn his reputation. There was simply nothing defamatory about the remark. It was merely a means of preventing the Levin Firm from continuing to represent its client, a means of preventing Morrison Assurance Company from having its choice of counsel to represent it, and a means of obtaining less qualified counsel to oppose U.S. Fire's position in the litigation.

The actions of U.S. Fire in this case are more akin to abuse of process than they are to defamation. The First District Court of Appeals in <u>Bradley v. Peaden</u>, 347 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) quoted Prosser on Torts, Third Edition, Chapter 23 as follows:

. . . 'thus if the defendant prosecutes an innocent plaintiff for a crime without reasonable grounds to believe him guilty, it is malicious prosecution; if

he prosecutes him with such grounds to extort payment of a debt, it is abuse of process.' (Pg. 457)

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