IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,649 11th Cir. Case No. 92-2984

LEVIN, MIDDLEBROOKS, MABIE, THOMAS, MAYES & MITCHELL, P.A., et al.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

vs.

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellee.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/APPELLEE, UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

HOWELL O'NEAL & JOHNSON The Greenleaf Building 200 N. Laura Street, Suite 1100 Jacksonville, FL 32202 904/353-0024 「「「「「「「「「「「「「「「「」」」」

SHO J. WHITE

DEC 13 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By_

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee.

By: Charles Cook Howell, III Florida Bar Number 097235

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Appellee, United States Fire Insurance Company, adopts the statement of the case as set forth by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in its Introduction to the Certified Question.

Appellee also accepts the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals' Statement of the Facts [with the single correction thereto made by Appellant, to wit: that Mabie and the Levin Firm represented the plaintiff (not MAC) in the underlying case which resulted in a judgment against U.S. Fire's insured in excess of U.S. Fire's primary limits].

Appellee, for the reasons set forth in the Introduction to the Argument in this brief, disputes that any of the conclusory allegations as to falsity or improper motive constitute "facts" legally cognizable as such by the trial court in considering the motion to dismiss.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants' claim of tortious interference with a business relationship is based upon a statement made by U.S. Fire's counsel, that "U.S. Fire Insurance Company plans to call Lefferts Mabie, Esquire as a witness in the trial of the above-captioned litigation." That statement was made during the litigation of a bad faith action and as a ground in support of U.S. Fire's motion to disqualify, which motion was subsequently granted and affirmed on appeal.

Because Mr. Mabie was neither subpoenaed nor called as a witness when the case was finally tried more than four years later, Appellant alleges that the above-mentioned statement must have been false when made. That statement cannot form the basis of a tort action for tortious interference with a business relationship, however, because it is absolutely privileged as a statement made during litigation and relevant to the litigation.

Contrary to Appellants' contention, Florida courts have recognized and applied the litigation privilege to tort actions other than defamation, including actions for fraud, perjury, extortion, breach of fiduciary duty, and intentional interference with contractual relations.

Appellants' action would also seem to be banned by the privilege which protects parties against collateral attacks on judgments or orders in their favor.

There are strong public policy considerations which justify application of the litigation privilege in this case, to protect the unfettered right of counsel and litigants to seek the disqualification of opposing counsel when valid grounds for disqualification exist.

The competing public policy considerations, if any, are insufficient to warrant establishing a precedent that would overturn a well-founded and long-standing immunity. An

aggrieved party under circumstances like ours is not without a remedy, as there is available the disciplinary powers of the trial court that granted the motion to disqualify, the Florida Bar, and the State (through criminal action). On the other hand, overturning the traditional immunity in cases such as this would open the door to similar suits whenever a disqualified attorney feels he had been wrongfully disqualified.

The Certified Question should therefore be answered in the affirmative.

•

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

The issue on this appeal, as framed by the United States Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals in its Certified Question, is:

WHETHER CERTIFYING TO A TRIAL COURT AN INTENT TO CALL OPPOSING COUNSEL AS A WITNESS AT TRIAL IN ORDER TO OBTAIN COUNSEL'S **DISQUALIFICATION**, AND LATER FAILING то SUBPOENA AND CALL COUNSEL AS A WITNESS AT TRIAL, IS AN ACTION THAT IS ABSOLUTELY IMMUNE FROM A CLAIM OF TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A **BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP BY VIRTUE OF FLORIDA'S** LITIGATION PRIVILEGE.

Even though the case was before the trial court on a motion to dismiss the complaint, we must initially question the propriety of expanding the Certified Question, as Appellant requests, to include the conclusory allegations of improper motive. Those allegations were neither "well pled facts" nor inferences which could reasonably be drawn from the facts which were pled and should therefore have been ignored by the trial court.¹ Indeed, the allegations of improper

¹2A <u>Moore's Federal Practice</u>, paragraph 12.07[2-5] -- "...the court must presume all factual allegations in the complaint to be true and all reasonable inferences are made in favor of the non-moving party. However, legal conclusions, deductions or opinions couched as factual allegations are <u>not</u> given a presumption of truthfulness." See also: <u>Fleming v. Lind-Waldock & Co.</u>, 922 F.2d 20 (1st Cir. 1990) -- "...it is only when...conclusions are logically compelled, or at least supported by the stated facts, that is, when the suggested inference rises to what experience indicates is an acceptable level of probability, that 'conclusions' become 'facts' for pleading purposes." And see: <u>Mitchell v. Archibald & Kendall, Inc.</u>, 573 F.2d 429 (7th Cir. 1978) -- "the court is required to accept only well pleaded facts as true in deciding whether the motion to dismiss was properly granted, and is not required to accept legal conclusions that may be alleged or that may be drawn from the pleaded facts."

motive were contrary to the only permissible inferences which could be drawn from the limited facts pled. Those facts were that after Mabie was listed as witness with knowledge of key facts in answers to interrogatories, U.S. Fire sought and obtained his disqualification based upon a representation to the court that it planned to call Mr. Mabie as a witness at trial, and when the case was finally tried more than four years later, U.S. Fire did not subpoena Mr. Mabie and did not call him as a witness.

Honesty, not fraud, must not only be inferred from those facts, but <u>presumed</u>, especially when those facts are reasonably reconcilable with honesty and fairness, as they certainly are.²

There were valid reasons why trial counsel might have planned to call Mr. Mabie as a witness at trial after Mabie had been identified in answers to interrogatories in the underlying bad faith suit as a witness having knowledge of the facts supporting the allegations of bad faith, and it was therefore appropriate to seek his disqualification. Though challenged, the appropriateness of the disqualification was affirmed on appeal. Morrison Assurance Co. v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). It is also well known that trial counsel's opinions as to which witnesses will actually be called at trial are constantly evolving and changing as discovery progresses, expert witnesses are consulted and trial preparation is refined. Accordingly, there are any number of reasons why trial counsel might choose to discard arguments or not call previously listed witnesses immediately prior to trial.

We respectfully submit, therefore, that one cannot legitimately infer evil intent or improper purpose from the mere fact that though previously listed as a witness and disqualified

²See <u>27 Fla. Jur. 2d</u>, <u>Fraud & Deceit</u>, §10, citing <u>FEC Rail R. Co. v. Thompson</u>, 111 So. 525 (Fla. 1927). See also: <u>27 Fla. Jur. 2d</u>, <u>Fraud & Deceit</u>, §§103 and 109, and <u>23 Fla.</u> <u>Jur. 2d</u>, <u>Evidence & Witnesses</u>, §§91 and 114, and cases cited therein.

upon that basis, Mr. Mabie was not called to testify at trial, especially in the face of the contrary presumption of honesty.

If the Court, as it should, disregards Appellant's conclusory allegations of bad motive and fraud, the answer to the certified question (as properly framed by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal), would be self evident -- that stripped of their inflammatory clothing, the <u>facts</u> upon which appellant's action is based simply will not support a claim of tortious interference.

Even if the allegations of improper motive are included in the question, however, we respectfully submit that the question should still be answered in the affirmative, because as we read the Florida cases, they seem to stand for the proposition that,

any statement made during the course of litigation and relevant thereto, regardless how false or fraudulent, is absolutely privileged and cannot form the basis for liability <u>under any</u> <u>theory</u>.

II. A FALSE STATEMENT MADE DURING LITIGATION AS A GROUND FOR A MOTION TO DISQUALIFY OPPOSING COUNSEL SHOULD BE ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED, AND SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO FORM THE BASIS FOR A LATER SUIT FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP.

It is important that this Court bear in mind throughout its consideration of the privilege issue that the gravamen of the Levin Firm's tortious interference action is (1) an allegedly false written statement³, (2) made by counsel for U.S. Fire, (3) during the litigation, and (4) relevant to the litigation [it was made in support of the motion to disqualify], that,

U.S. Fire Insurance Corporation plans to call Lefferts Mabie, Esquire as a witness in the trial of the above-captioned litigation.

We submit that under Florida law, such statement, regardless whether false when made,

should be deemed absolutely privileged and should not be allowed to form the basis for a later

tort action, under any theory.

As this Court pointed out in Fridovich v. Fridovich, 598 So.2d 65,66 (Fla. 1992),

The law in Florida has long been that defamatory statements made in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged, and no cause of action for damages will lie, regardless of how false or malicious the statements may be, so long as the statements are relevant to the subject of inquiry. <u>Myers v. Hodges</u>, 53 Fl. 197, 209, 44 So. 357, 361 (1907).

In <u>Myers v. Hodges</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court, initially considered the privilege issue in connection with certain statements alleged to be defamatory:

...Thus is presented for our decision for the first time a very grave and important question, involving, as it does, the rights and privileges of parties who are concerned in proceedings in the courts, and incidentally affecting the rights of counsel and witnesses also....

³That statement was the subject of a request for admissions served upon U.S. Fire below, and a copy of the statement is attached as an Appendix to this Brief.

In the United States, according to the overwhelming weight of authority, in order that defamatory words, published by parties, counsel or witnesses in the due course of a judicial procedure, may be absolutely privileged, they must be connected with, or relevant or material to, the cause in hand or subject of the inquiry. If they be so published and are so relevant or pertinent to the subject of inquiry, no action will lie therefore, however false or malicious they may in fact be. ...We hold this to be the true rule.

The <u>Myers</u> court acknowledged the "weighty reasons" in favor of the English doctrine of absolute privilege regardless whether the statements in question were relevant to the subject of inquiry ("that parties and counsel should be indulged with great latitude in the freedom of speech and the conduct of their causes in courts and in asserting their rights, because in this way the purposes of justice will be subserved, and the court can and will protect the party aggrieved by expunging irrelevant, defamatory matter from the pleadings, and by punishing for contempt of court the guilty party"), but nevertheless felt that the protection of absolute privilege should be limited to statements relevant to the litigation.

The <u>Myers</u> court went on to explain how even <u>irrelevant</u> statements made during the course of judicial proceedings should be protected by a "qualified privilege" overcome only upon proof of express malice, quoting with approval from <u>Calkins v. Sumner</u>, 13 Wis. 193, 80 Am. Dec. 738:

[I]t would be extremely inconsistent, and...absurd, for the law to presume that judicial proceedings of any kind are resorted to for the mere purpose of enabling parties to indulge their malice and utter slanders, and not in good faith, to attain some legitimate end, or to perform some lawful act or duty, which is useful and beneficial to themselves or others. On the contrary, the presumption is very strong that persons so situated are using legal proceedings for proper purposes, and that what is said or done proceeds from sufficient cause and right motives; and, when that which thus transpires may constitute the basis of an action at all, it is only upon the ground that there is proof of express malice, and that the person complained of has availed himself of his position to gratify his malevolence by defamatory expressions against the parties or others, which have no connection with or bearing upon the subject under investigation. (Emphasis added.)

In <u>Ange v. State</u>, 123 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1929) (also a defamation case), this Court explained that the privilege as applied to statements made in the course of judicial proceedings,

...extends to the protection of the judges, parties, counsel and witnesses, and arises upon the doing of any act required or permitted by law in the due course of the judicial proceedings or as necessarily preliminary thereto....

Though <u>Myers</u> and <u>Ange</u> involved allegedly false and defamatory statements, the Court's reasoning can, should be, and has been applied to any allegedly false statement made during the course of judicial proceedings and relevant thereto which allegedly results in harm or injury to another.

In <u>Wright v. Yurko</u>, 446 So.2d 1162 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), Wright, after successfully defending a medical malpractice action against him, brought suit against his former patient (the plaintiffs in the medical malpractice action), their attorney and an expert witness who testified at trial, alleging, among other things, that the malpractice suit was brought without any basis or probable cause, and further, that the defendants conspired to and gave <u>false and perjured</u> testimony at trial. Although the Court upheld the cause of action for malicious prosecution, ("the only private remedy in this context allowed or recognized") because the plaintiffs pleaded all of the required elements of that tort, it affirmed dismissal of the claims for defamation,

conspiracy <u>and perjury</u>, holding that the statements upon which those causes of action were based were absolutely privileged. Quoting from that opinion:

With regard to civil suits for perjury, liable, slander, defamation, and the like based on statements made in connection with judicial proceedings, this state has long followed the rule, overwhelmingly adopted by the weight of authority, that such torts committed in the course of judicial proceedings are not actionable. ...Parties, witnesses and counsel are accorded absolute immunity as to civil liability with regard to what is said or written in the course of a lawsuit, providing the statement are relevant to the litigation.

The <u>Wright</u> court pointed out that, "the reason for the rule is that although it may bar recovery for bonafide injuries, the chilling effect on free testimony and access to the courts if such suits were allowed would severely hamper our adversary system." That court also pointed out that the aggrieved party is not necessarily left without any remedy for injuries allegedly suffered as a result of false, though relevant statements made during the course of judicial proceedings. "Remedies for perjury, slander and the like committed during judicial proceedings are left to the discipline of the courts, the bar association and the state."

The instant action for intentional interference, like actions for defamation, perjury or conspiracy to commit perjury, is based upon an allegedly false statement made in connection with judicial proceedings. Accordingly, we submit that there is no legitimate reason why the same rule should not apply to this lawsuit, which unquestionably also involves a statement made in the course of, and relevant to judicial proceedings.

In <u>Procacci v. Zacco</u>, 402 So.2d 425 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), the Fourth District expressly held that the privilege defense applies to a cause of action based upon an alleged <u>tortious</u> <u>interference with a contractual relationship</u>. That case involved a two count complaint, one for alleged slander of title, and another for alleged tortious interference with a contractual relationship. Both counts were predicated upon the filing of a notice of lis pendens in an earlier easement action. Quoting from the opinion:

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